No. 96777-6
COA No. 75924-8-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN ALAN WHITAKER,

Petitioner

On Appeal from Snohomish County Superior Court
The Honorable Linda Krese, Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NEIL M. FOX,
WSBA No. 15277
Attorney for Petitioner
2125 Western Ave. Suite 330
Seattle WA 98121

Phone: 206-728-5440
e-mail: nf@neilfoxlaw.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Alan Whitaker asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review set out in Part B, *infra*.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Mr. Whitaker seeks review of the decision in *State of Washington v. John Alan Whitaker*, No. 75924-8-1, a published opinion issued on November 5, 2018. App. A. The Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration on December 18, 2018. App. B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is duress is a defense to the crime of kidnapping if conviction of that crime is what elevates first degree murder to aggravated murder?

2. Should a new trial have been granted (a) where a juror committed misconduct before deliberations by expressing the wish to kill Mr. Whitaker, (b) other jurors committed misconduct by harassing and threatening violence against a holdout juror, (c) the holdout juror then suffered a heart attack as a result, and (d) where there were *ex parte* communications in a back room between the holdout juror and court staff?

3. Was it error to admit gruesome photographs that caused some jurors to become emotionally overwrought?

4. Where the prosecutor committed repeated acts of misconduct and elicited evidence of silence, should reversal have resulted?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. *Procedural History*

In 2003, John Whitaker was charged with aggravated first degree murder and conspiracy to commit first degree murder, along with a firearm enhancement. Mr. Whitaker was convicted and was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole on July 23, 2004. The convictions were initially affirmed on direct appeal, *State v. Whitaker*, 133 Wn. App. 199, 135 P.3d 923 (2006), but were overturned on collateral review due to a violation of the right to a public trial. *In re Whitaker*, 175 Wn. App. 1020 (2013) (unpub.), *review denied*, 343 P.3d 760 (2015). Upon remand Whitaker was tried on the original charges, but was again convicted. The jury found the aggravating factor of kidnapping, but was silent as to aggravating factor of robbery. CP 477. Whitaker was sentenced again on September 23, 2016, to life without parole. CP 54-73.

2. *Substantive Facts*

In 2002, Mr. Whitaker was part of a group of loosely-knit friends, all of whom used drugs and sometimes engaged in selling them. These people

included John “Diggy” Anderson, Nathan Lovelace, Maurice Rivas, Matthew Durham, Yusef “Kevin” Jihad, Tony Williams and Jeffrey Barth. Rachel Burkheimer had been dating Mr. Anderson off and on. Mr. Anderson was upset with Ms. Burkheimer and, at his command, on Sept. 23-24, 2002, the State alleged that Whitaker and the others variously participated in restraining Ms. Burkheimer, driving her around in a vehicle, and taking her out to a remote area where Mr. Anderson shot and killed her.¹

There was extensive testimony at trial about Mr. Anderson’s unprovoked violence and irrational rage that was directed not just toward Ms. Burkheimer, but also towards others in the group, including Mr. Whitaker. When the FBI arrested Mr. Whitaker in California, he told the agents that he participated in the kidnapping of Ms. Burkheimer because he was afraid of Mr. Anderson. *See* AOB at 7-8, 17-18.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. *Introduction*

This is an unusual case that presents several significant legal issues requiring resolution by this Court. The issues are not separate and discrete;

¹ *See* Appellant's Opening Brief (“AOB”) at 5-10; Brief of Respondent (“BOR”) 3-10.

rather, they are linked together, and each error compounded the damage to Mr. Whitaker.

For instance, over objection, the State admitted graphic photographs of Ms. Burkheimer's body in a shallow grave. The grotesqueness of the photos caused one of the sitting jurors to prejudge the case and express to other jurors, before deliberations began, her desire that Mr. Whitaker be executed ("I hope they fry the fucking bastard."). CP 1733. Rather than report the misconduct, the other jurors comforted the juror, behavior that disturbed Juror No. 2. CP 371-72, 1733.

During deliberations, Juror No. 2 became the "holdout" against conviction. The other jurors harassed Juror No. 2, threatening him with violence (threatening to break his legs). When Juror No. 2 sought safety outside the jury room, he had a series of *ex parte* conversations with the judge's law clerk. When deliberations resumed, the harassment towards Juror No. 2 continued, causing him to have a heart attack. Only then was Juror No. 2 removed from jury, and the other jurors were able to convict Mr. Whitaker. CP 371-74, 1730-33.

This highly emotional atmosphere in the jury room was also caused by pervasive prosecutorial misconduct. Not only did the prosecutor elicit

from the chief detective the fact that Mr. Whitaker remained silent after his arrest,² but the prosecutor, during closing argument, repeatedly ask the jurors to put themselves in Ms. Burkheimer’s position and to imagine what she was thinking.³ The prosecutor also argued that “duress is not a defense” even though at the State’s request the trial court did not give a duress instruction.⁴

The lack of a duress instruction itself is an issue for review. The defense requested such an instruction, not for the crime of murder, but rather for the a substantive crime (kidnapping) that is an essential element of aggravated first degree murder. CP 574. Whether the trial court erred in not giving such an instruction is an issue of first impression. In light of this Court’s recently changing jurisprudence about how to conceptualize aggravated murder, *see State v. Allen*, ___ Wn.2d ___, ___ P.3d ___, 2018 Wash. LEXIS 912, 2018 WL 6566885 (No. 95454-2, 12/13/18), review should be granted due to the Court of Appeals’ decision which rested on the now discredited 1985 decision in *State v. Kincaid*, 103 Wn.2d 304, 692 P.2d 823 (1985).

² 13 RP 2478-79.

³ 14 RP 2673-75, 2678-79, 2686, 2689.

⁴ RP (6/2/16) 2765.

While all of these issues are unique, they have state-wide effect. Where a sitting juror in a major aggravated murder case is only removed due to threats of violence at the hands of other jurors, this Court needs to step into the case and condemn such abhorrent behavior in the strongest terms. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4), and reverse the convictions and remand for a new trial.

2. *Duress is a Defense to the Crime of Kidnapping Which is an Independent Element of the Crime of Aggravated Murder*

Mr. Whitaker only participated in the abduction of Ms. Burkheimer because he was afraid of Mr. Anderson. He therefore asked the trial court to instruct the jury on the defense of duress, not to the crime of murder, but to the predicate crimes of kidnapping and robbery, necessary elements to aggravated first degree murder. CP 573-74. The trial court denied the instructions because it ruled that there was not sufficient evidence to support the giving of such an instruction. RP (6/24/16 p.m.) 61-62.

In contrast, the Court of Appeals:

agree[d] that there was evidence that Anderson threatened and used force against Whitaker and others as the events of Burkheimer's murder evolved. But the analysis does not end there. Because duress is not a defense to first degree murder, the trial court did not err in refusing to instruct the jury on duress.

Slip Op. at 7. The court relied RCW 9A.16.060(2) which provides that the duress is “not available if the crime charged is murder,” and on this language from *State v. Kincaid, supra*:

The statutory aggravating circumstances which, when present, raise premeditated first degree murder to aggravated first degree murder punishable by mandatory life imprisonment or death, are “aggravation of penalty” factors which enhance the penalty for the offense, and are not elements of a crime as such.

Kincaid, 103 Wn.2d at 307 (quoted at Slip Op. at 3-4).

A few days before the Court of Appeals denied reconsideration, this Court issued its decision in *State v. Allen, supra*. In *Allen*, the issue was whether double jeopardy prevented retrial of aggravating factors if the jury had previously acquitted the defendant of those circumstances. Under *Kincaid*, if the aggravating circumstances were merely “sentencing factors,” double jeopardy would not prevent a retrial. However, the Court departed from *Kincaid* because “the legal underpinnings of our precedent have changed so significantly, we are compelled to revisit the issue in light of subsequent decisions of the United States Supreme Court.” *Allen*, Slip Op. at 8 (internal quotes omitted).

What has changed since 1985 was the U.S. Supreme Court’s Sixth Amendment jurisprudence beginning with *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S.

466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000), and extending to *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed.2d 314 (2013), and *Hurst v. Florida*, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 616, 193 L. Ed. 2d 504 (2016). It is now clear that, under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, aggravating circumstances are the functional equivalent of elements of a new crime that must be submitted to the jury and must be proved by the State beyond a reasonable doubt. *Allen*, Slip Op. at 8-15.

While *Allen* addressed double jeopardy, its guiding principles apply here. An aggravating circumstance listed in RCW 10.95.020, particularly one that is a separate criminal offense, such as kidnapping in the first degree, is functionally and legally (under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments) a different crime that must be proven in addition to first degree premeditated murder under RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a).⁵

For instance, the State charged Mr. Whitaker with the crime of “aggravated first degree murder,” alleging not only that he had “a premeditated intent to cause the death of Rachel Rose Burkheimer,” and that he “did cause the death of another person, to-wit: Rachel Rose Burkheimer,”

⁵ See *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 224-30, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (reversing aggravated murder conviction where there was insufficient evidence to support kidnapping charge that was charged as aggravating circumstance).

but also that “the murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from Kidnapping in the First Degree”. App. C. The jury instructions made it clear that separate *crimes* were involved. Instruction No. 8 set out the elements only of murder in the first degree. App. D. The trial court gave the jury a separate instruction, tracking the separate language of RCW 10.95.020(11)(d) – “The murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from one of the following crimes: (d) Kidnapping in the first degree.” Inst. No. 13A, App. D. The court also gave the jury a separate instruction defining this specific crime. Inst. No. 15, App. D. Finally, the court gave the jury separate verdict forms for the two crimes, murder and kidnapping. Verdict Form A-1 & Special Verdict Form A-3, App. D.

Thus, Whitaker was charged, tried and convicted not just for premeditated first degree murder, but also for kidnapping in the first degree. This was a crime that was separate from premeditated first degree murder and what made aggravated murder a more serious offense than premeditated murder. This result is compelled by the line of cases starting with *Apprendi* and extending in this State to *Allen*, construing the right to a jury trial and due

process, protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22.

While RCW 9A.16.060(2) provides that the duress is “not available if the crime charged is murder,” the statute of its own plain language does not bar the defense to the crime of kidnapping in the first degree, either standing alone or charged with first degree murder to constitute the separate crime called “aggravated first degree murder.” Accordingly, the Court of Appeals’ decision is wrong. Mr. Whitaker was entitled to present a duress defense to the crime of kidnapping (and robbery). Thus, Mr. Whitaker’s right to present a defense, protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, was violated.⁶

The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with this Court’s decision in *Allen*, and the aforementioned U.S. Supreme Court cases. Because of the constitutional issues at stake, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (3), and reverse the conviction for aggravated murder and remand for a new trial.

⁶ See *State v. Lynch*, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491-92, 309 P.3d 482 (2013) (citing *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975)); *State v. Corstine*, 177 Wn.2d 370, 376, 300 P.3d 400 (2013) (“Presenting one’s own defense also affirms individual dignity and autonomy) (citing *McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 176-77, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984) (noting that the Sixth Amendment right to conduct one’s own defense “exists to affirm the dignity and autonomy of the accused”).

3. *The Course of Events Surrounding Juror No. 2's Elimination from the Jury Violated Multiple Constitutional Provisions*

The jurors favoring conviction harassed and threatened Juror No. 2, causing him to have a heart attack, which allowed him to be replaced by a more favorable juror who voted to convict. This sequence violated Mr. Whitaker's rights to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, and the right to a unanimous and impartial jury chosen through the jury selection process, protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22. *See State v. Van Elsloo*, 191 Wn.2d 798, 817-20, 425 P.3d 807 (2018) (surveying the law regarding dismissal of deliberating juror).

The Court of Appeals incorrectly focused on the fact that Juror No. 2 was excused because of his heart attack, Slip Op. at 25, and did not critically examine how the misconduct and criminal acts (i.e. threats of bodily harm) by the other jurors was responsible for forcing Juror No. 2 from the jury *because of his view of the evidence*. *See State v. Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. 106, 122, 327 P.3d 1290 (2014) (noting how juror's extreme emotional distress stemmed, at least in part, from a difference in opinion with other jurors regarding the merits of the case).

The Court of Appeals noted the lack of medical evidence in the record to support Juror No. 2's claim the other jurors' threats caused his heart attack. Slip Op. at 25. Yet, the juror stated:

On Wednesday, the pressure on me became too great. I began having chest pains, pain in my left arm, and my face became numb. It was then I requested medical attention. . . . I firmly believe that this episode occurred because of the distress caused by my status as a holdout juror.

CP 374.

There was no objection to this conclusion, and the State never cross-examined Juror No. 2 about his own conclusion as to causation. RP 2978-93. Juror No. 2's conclusions about his own health are also supported by circumstantial evidence. There is a natural inference that if a person is being harassed and threatened with physical violence and begins to have the physical symptoms of a heart attack, and then actually suffers a heart attack, that the harassment caused the heart attack.⁷

Just as jurors cannot be fined or imprisoned until they return a guilty verdict, *see Bushel's Case*, Vaughan 135, 124 Eng. Rep. 1006 [CP 1670], so too jurors should not be physically threatened because they disagree with the

⁷ See *Guye v. Home Indem. Co.*, 241 Ga. 213, 244 S.E.2d 864, 866-67 (1978) (applying the natural inference that a heart attack was caused after on-the-job exertion).

other jurors and refuse to vote for conviction. Under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22, Mr. Whitaker had the right to have the jury initially constituted decide his case. *See United States v. Dinitz*, 424 U.S. 600, 606, 96 S.Ct. 1075, 47 L.Ed.2d 267 (1976) (noting the defendant's "valued right" to have his trial completed by a "particular tribunal") (internal quotation omitted). Mr. Whitaker's right to the jury selected in his trial cannot be eliminated due to the intimidation and harassment of a juror who was not going to vote the same way as the others.

Here, the focus should not have been on whether *Juror No. 2* became unfit to continue serving, under RCW 2.36.110. Rather, the focus should have been on whether *the other jurors* who badgered and threatened Juror No. 2 so much that he had a heart attack *were themselves fit to serve* since they exhibited "conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service." RCW 2.36.110. Clearly, the other jurors were not fit to serve when they were able to remove a holdout juror by threatening him with violence which caused him to become ill.

Again, Juror No. 2 did not want to convict Mr. Whitaker of aggravated murder or conspiracy. The only reason he did not serve out his jury service was that the other jurors intimidated and harassed him such that

he had a heart attack. This is intolerable and violated Mr. Whitaker's rights to due process of law and right to the jury that was initially impaneled, protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22.⁸

Moreover, the entire sequence of events involving how other jurors threatened Juror No. 2 also violated CrR 6.15 and Mr. Whitaker's rights to be present and to a public trial under the First, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 10 and 22. There were indisputably meetings between the bailiff and Juror No. 2 in a back room, away from other jurors without the presence or participation of Mr. Whitaker. While the Court of Appeals minimized the nature of this meeting, Slip Op. at 17-23, from Juror No. 2's perspective, the meeting touched on several issues, including questions about whether he should call 911 or hire a lawyer.⁹ This contact between the judge's "alter ego" and a juror should have taken place in open court, in the presence of Mr. Whitaker. *State v. Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d

⁸ See *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 772, 123 P.3d 73 (2005) ("Dismissal of a holdout juror also risks violating the Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; see also WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22. If it appears that a trial court is reconstituting a jury in order to reach a particular result, then the right to an impartial jury is sacrificed.").

⁹ See *O'Brien v. City of Seattle*, 52 Wn.2d 543, 548, 327 P.2d 433 (1958) ("[I]t is not what the bailiff said that is the determining factor, but rather, what the jurors heard.").

511, 522-24, 396 P.3d 310 (2017); *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880-81, 246 P.3d 796 (2011).

Accordingly, the entire train of events involving Juror No. 2 calls out for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4).

4. *Other Juror Misconduct Requires Review*

There is no dispute that, before deliberations, one juror prejudged the case and wished that Mr. Whitaker be executed by stating to the other jurors: “I hope they fry the fucking bastard.” CP 1733. This misconduct violated Whitaker’s right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, and his right to a unanimous and impartial jury under the Sixth Amendment and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22. *See United States v. Resko*, 3 F.3d 684, 689-90 (3d Cir. 1993).

The Court of Appeals concluded that the juror’s comment “inheres in the verdict.” Slip Op. at 29. However, the comment was made, not during deliberations, but before deliberations – right after the introduction of the gruesome photographs, and thus did not inhere in the verdict. Moreover, the other jurors, rather than reporting this misconduct, exacerbated the damage by comforting the juror who violated the court’s orders, CP 1733 (FF 54). The Court of Appeals’ opinion, though, ignores this other behavior.

The Court of Appeals' analysis also failed to account for recent U.S. Supreme Court jurisprudence, allowing for inquiries into some issues that "inhere" in the verdict where a juror's racism is in issue.¹⁰ Here, Juror No. 2 recounted that after hearing the wish that Mr. Whitaker be electrocuted, one juror expressed his wish that Mr. Whitaker should have been "in the hole" instead of Ms. Burkheimer, which Juror No. 2 took as a racist statement. RP 2990.

Finally, the Court of Appeals stated also that it did not matter whether a juror's comments were made to others outside the jury (as in *State v. Hatley*, 41 Wn. App. 789, 706 P.2d 1083 (1985) and *Tate v. Rommel*, 3 Wn. App. 933, 937-38, 478 P.2d 242 (1970)) or within the jury: "the analysis is the same. The juror's statement in this case inheres in the verdict, and Whitaker has not shown that the comment prejudiced him." Slip Op. at 29.

But the comments actually did prejudice Whitaker. A similar comment was made in *Stockton v. Virginia*, 852 F.2d 740 (4th Cir. 1988). There, the proprietor of a local diner approached deliberating jurors in a capital case who were eating lunch, and told them, "they ought to fry the son

¹⁰ See, e.g., *Peña-Rodriguez v. Colorado*, 580 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 855, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017) (racist comments during deliberations); *Tharpe v. Sellers*, ___ U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 545, 199 L. Ed. 2d 424 (2018) (juror's affidavit attesting to racial prejudice may be sufficient to show prejudice in returning death verdict).

of a bitch.” *Id.* at 741. The Fourth Circuit found that this third-party communication caused great prejudice to the defendant and constituted a Sixth Amendment violation, even though the comment was not mentioned in deliberations. *Stockton*, 852 F.2d at 746.

There was juror misconduct, and Mr. Whitaker’s constitutional rights were violated. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and reverse.

5. *Prosecutorial Misconduct and Evidence of the Assertion of Silence Require a New Trial*

The Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Whitaker that there were a series of other constitutional errors at trial:

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