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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. DURESS IS NOT A DEFENSE WHEN THE CHARGED 
OFFENSE IS MURDER. THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT CHARGED 
WITH KIDNAPPING, AND WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A DURESS 
DEFENSE. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court on the basis 

that the defendant was charged with murder, not kidnapping, and 

therefore he was legally not entitled to the defense instruction. 
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The defendant asks this Court to review that decision, 

arguing that it conflicts with recent authority from this Court. RAP 

13.4(b)(1 ). He also claims that by rejecting his proposed instruction 

he was denied his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense. He 

argues review is appropriate because the issue raises a significant 

question of law under the constitution of the United States RAP 

13.4(b)(3). Neither of these grounds supports review. 

The Court of Appeals decision was based on its 

interpretation of RCW 9A.16.060 setting forth the duress defense. 

"The defense of duress is not available if the crime charged is 

murder, manslaughter, or homicide by abuse." RCW 9A.16.060(3). 

The Court of Appeals held that the defendant was charged with first 

degree murder, not robbery or kidnapping. Instead those crimes 

were aggravating factors, not separate crimes. He was therefore 

not entitled to the instruction. Slip Op. at 5. 

The Court relied in part on State v. Kincaid, 103 Wn.2d 304, 

692 P.2d 823 (1985). There this Court considered whether the 

aggravating factors were required to be included in the to-convict 

instruction. Reasoning that the aggravating factors were not 

elements of the crime, but rather aggravation of penalty factors, this 
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Court held the aggravating factors may, but need not be included in 

the to-convict instruction. Id. at 312-13. 

The defendant argues the Court of Appeals decision is no 

longer valid in light of this Court's recent decision in State v Allen, 

431 P .3d 117 (2018 ). There the Court considered whether an 

acquittal on aggravating factors barred re-trial on those factors 

under the double jeopardy provision in the Fifth Amendment. 

Relying on Kincaid, this Court previously held that "double jeopardy 

does not apply to aggravating circumstances outside the death 

penalty context." Id. at 120-21, ,r12. After Kincaid was decided the 

United States Supreme Court found that aggravation of penalty 

factors were elements to be decided by a jury for purposes of the 

Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. Apprendi v. New Jersey. 530 

U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), Alleyne v. 

United States, 570 U.S. 99, 133 S.Ct. 2151, 186 L.Ed.2d 314 

(2013). This court found that there was no logical reason to 

distinguish elements of a crime for Sixth Amendment or Fifth 

Amendment purposes. This Court held that the aggravating 

circumstances set out in RCW 10.95.020 "are elements of the 

offense of aggravated first degree murder for the purposes of the 

double jeopardy clause." Allen 431 P.3d at 121, ,I14. 
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Allen does not support the claim that the decision of the 

Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of this Court because the 

issue in Allen is completely different from the issue presented here. 

Allen did not overrule Kincaid, nor did it overrule State v. Siers, 174 

Wn.2d 269, 277, 274 P.3d 358 (2012). In Siers, the Court held that 

aggravating factors are not essential elements of the crime which 

must be charged in the information so long as some notice is 

provided. Both Kincaid and Siers dealt with the nature of 

aggravating circumstances in other contexts not at issue in Allen. 

Similarly, Allen said nothing about whether a defense may 

apply to a single element of the crime, when that element may also 

be charged as a separate crime. Significantly, in finding that the 

aggravating circumstances set out in RCW 10.95.020 were 

elements of the crime of aggravated first degree murder, the Court 

did not find those aggravating circumstances were separately 

charged crimes. Since they are not separately charged crimes, the 

defendant was not entitled to a duress defense for either kidnap or 

robbery. 

The plain language of RCW 9A.16.060 precludes the 

defense of duress if the crime charged is murder. The defendant 

argues that he in effect was charged with kidnapping, since the trial 
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court instructed the jury on kidnapping, and he was therefore tried 

and convicted of kidnapping as well as murder. He cites no 

authority for the proposition that jury instructions dictate the crimes 

charged, and in turn dictate what defenses are available. 

Furthermore, the jury was only instructed on the definition of 

kidnapping. Since kidnapping has a technical legal definition, the 

court was required to give that instruction. State v. Brown, 132 

Wn.2d 529, 611-12, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). However the court did 

not give a separate "to convict" instruction setting forth the 

elements of kidnapping. Thus the jury instructions do not support 

the conclusion that the defendant was separately charged with 

kidnapping, and was statutorily entitled to a duress defense. 

The defendant also states review is justified under RAP 

13.4(b)(3) because failure to give the duress instruction violated his 

Sixth Amendment right to fair trial. The Sixth Amendment right is 

satisfied when the instructions taken as a whole accurately inform 

the jury of the relevant law and permit each party to argue their 

theory of the case. State v. Henderson. 430 P.3d 637. 638. ,IB 

(2018). While a criminal defendant is entitled to have a jury 

instructed on his theory of the case, he is not entitled to an 

instruction that inaccurately represents the law or for which there is 
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no evidentiary support. State v. Staley. 123 wn.2d 795, 803, 872 

P.2d 506 (1994). Here the defendant's proposed instruction 

inaccurately represented the law. Thus, there is no Sixth 

Amendment violation. 

Further, as the trial court found, there was no evidentiary 

support for the defense. The Court of Appeals did not address the 

basis for the trial court's ruling except to state that Anderson 

threatened to use force against the petitioner and others as the 

events leading to the victim's murder evolved. Slip Op. at 7. To the 

extent this language can be interpreted to mean that there was an 

evidentiary basis for a duress instruction if it had been legally 

available to the defendant, that is incorrect. The Court did not 

address other elements of the defense for which there must also be 

evidentiary support. Should this Court conclude that there is a basis 

to accept review of this issue, the Court should also consider 

whether the instruction was properly rejected because there was 

insufficient evidence to support giving it. 

B. NEITHER JUROR MISCONDUCT NOR THE 
CIRCUMSTANCES LEADING TO THE COURT DISMISSING 
JUROR 2 RAISE A SIGNFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION. 

The defendant argues the sequence of events leading to 

Juror 2's dismissal violated his right to a unanimous and impartial 
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jury. He claims that Juror 2 was dismissed based on his view of the 

evidence. When a juror's view of the evidence differs from that of 

other jurors, dismissal of that juror implicates a defendant's right to 

a unanimous verdict and an impartial jury. State v. Elmore, 155 

Wn.2d 758, 771-72, 123 P.3d 73 (2005). The Court of Appeals 

rejected the defendant's argument because the juror was excused 

for medical reasons, and not because of his views on the evidence. 

Slip Op. at 25-26. 

The defendant's challenge to this decision rests on 

supposed facts that are not supported by the record. The defendant 

argues that Juror 2's heart attack was the result of harassment from 

other jurors, and that Juror 2 did not want to convict the defendant 

of either charge. The defendant supplied a declaration from Juror 2 

that included the juror's opinion that the pain he felt occurred 

because of his status as a holdout juror. 1 CP 37 4. However there 

was no medical evidence supporting that opinion and the trial court 

made no finding that Juror 2 had been harassed by other jurors or 

that his medical condition stemmed from that harassment. 5 CP 

1727-34. The absence of a finding of fact is presumptively a 

negative finding against the person with the burden of proof. 

Morgan v. Briney. 200 Wn. App. 380, 390-91, 403 P .3d 86 (2017). 
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Moreover, the reasons for the juror's medical condition, even if it is 

claimed to be due to pressure from other jurors, inheres in the 

verdict. State v. Forsyth, 13 W. App. 133, 138, 533 P.32d 847 

(1975). 

The defendant also argues that the bailiff's contact with Juror 

2 violated CrR 6.15 and the defendant's right to a public trial. He 

does not even address the requirements of the rule, which relates 

to juror inquiries about the instructions or the evidence. Juror 2 did 

not ask about the instructions or evidence. His concerns related to 

personal matters. A bailiff may communicate with a juror about 

administrative matters because they are neutral and innocuous. 

State v. Yonker, 133 Wn. App. 627, 635-36, 137 P.3d 888 (2006). 

The Court did not err when it concluded that no improper 

communication or violation of CrR 6.15 occurred. Slip Op. at 20-21. 

Finally the defendant claims that his right to be present and 

to a public trial were violated. The Court of Appeals found no 

violation, since the defendant was present when Juror 2's safety 

concerns were discussed in his presence in open court. Slip Op. at 

22-23. The defendant does not explain how, under the 

circumstances of this case that the Court of Appeals erred. Review 

should therefore be denied. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 87 4, 
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83 P.3d 970 (2004) (Failure to provide argument or authority to 

support it waived a claim of error.) 

The defendant also argues this Court should review other 

juror misconduct, alleging "there is no dispute that, before 

deliberations, one juror prejudged the case." Petition at 15. In light 

of the trial court's findings that juror opinions swayed back and forth 

during deliberations, and that there was no evidence jurors were 

biased or had fixed opinions before deliberations began, there is no 

factual basis to support his claim that juror misconduct deprived 

him of a fair trial. 

Should this Court accept review of the issues the defendant 

raises relating to the events concerning Juror 2, this Court should 

also consider whether the defendant waived the issues by asking 

the trial court to defer ruling on his mistrial motion. The Court of 

Appeals did not decide the waiver issue, but instead decided to 

address the merits of the issues. Slip Op. at 20, n. 1. This decision 

is inconsistent with decisions of this Court holding that a defendant 

may not withhold a mistrial motion, gamble on the verdict, and then 

seek a new trial on the same grounds he could have asserted in his 

mistrial motion. State v. Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 291, 165 P .3d 1251 

(2007); State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215,226,634 P.2d 868 (1981). 
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A defendant has a right to have his trial completed by a 

particular tribunal. United States v. Dinitz, 424 U.S. 600, 606, 96 

S.Ct. 1075, 47 L.Ed.2d 267 (1976). When a trial irregularity occurs 

the defendant may either seek a mistrial, or continue with the 

original jury and perhaps obtain acquittal. Absent showing a 

manifest necessity then, the trial court has no ability to grant a 

mistrial for those irregularities Id. 606-09, 

Here the defendant sought to take advantage of both 

options. He first made a motion for mistrial, but then sought to 

"gamble on the verdict" by asking the court to defer ruling on his 

motion until after the verdict. This boxed the trial court into a single 

course of action; continuing with the trial. But the court did not need 

to later consider the bases for the mistrial motion, because the 

defendant chose to "gamble on the verdict." When the trial court 

and Court of Appeals subsequently considered the issues in a 

motion for new trial and on appeal, each court allowed the 

defendant to do exactly what this Court said he could not. 

It is true that the Court may exercise its discretion to 

consider an issue that has not been preserved for review. This 

Court did that in State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 835, 344 P.3d 

680 (2015). The Court cited specific reasons for exercising its 
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discretion. The issue involved a pervasive practice that had 

"problematic consequences." Id. at 835-36. However the Court 

gave no guidance as to when it is appropriate to exercise discretion 

and review an otherwise unpreserved claim of error. There is a 

tension between the rules that require issue preservation and the 

rule that the court may nonetheless exercise its discretion to review 

an unpreserved claim of error. What factors guide that exercise of 

discretion is an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

C. PROSECUTOR ERROR DID NOT PREJUDICE THE 
DEFENDANT. 

The Court of Appeals found the prosecutor committed three 

instances of misconduct. During one officer's testimony the 

prosecutor elicited evidence of the defendant's post-arrest silence. 

In closing, the prosecutor asked jurors to imagine what Ms. 

Burkheimer thought and felt as the events leading to her murder 

unfolded. In rebuttal closing the prosecutor argued that duress is 

not a defense to murder. The Court found none of these instances 

of error, individually or cumulatively prejudiced the defendant. Slip 

Op. 7-17, 32-37. 
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The defendant argues that review of these decisions is 

warranted under RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (3). He argues that the 

Court failed to properly analyze the cumulative effect of the error by 

failing to analyze how each instance of error amplified the others. 

The Court of Appeals did consider the cumulative effect of the 

identified errors, stating "but even when combined, we cannot find 

these errors denied Whitaker a fair trial." Slip Op. at 37. The 

defendant cites no authority that conflicts with this decision. Rather 

his argument rests on a disagreement with the Court's assessment 

of the effect those errors had on the trial. That kind of disagreement 

is not a basis for review. 

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 
WHEN IT ADMITTED LIMITED AUTOPSY PHOTOS. 

The Court of Appeals held the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion when it admitted a limited number of autopsy photos. Slip 

Op. at 29-32. The defendant asks this Court to review this decision 

claiming that there was actual evidence in the record that the 

photos caused one juror to express a desire to execute the 

defendant. This claim does not support his request for review. 
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First, the juror's outburst occurred after the trial court had 

exercised its discretion to allow the photos. It had no bearing on the 

court's initial exercise of discretion. 

The claim is also not factually supported by the record. The 

outburst came after the medical examiner testified. He was the 

State's last witness. 13 RP 2519-75. Before then the jury heard 

about how Ms. Burkheimer was kidnapped, physically and mentally 

brutalized, and then driven to a remote area where she was forced 

into a shallow grave, forced to strip naked, and then was shot 

multiple times, killing her. Given that testimony, the source of the 

juror's outburst cannot be traced solely to the autopsy photos. 

Finally, the defendant's argument fails to account for the trial 

court's exercise of discretion. Photos may be admitted, even if 

gruesome, if their probative value outweighs their prejudicial effect. 

State v. Crenshaw, 98 Wn.2d 789, 806, 659 P.2d 488 (1983). A 

court does not abuse its discretion admitting autopsy photos where 

they are not repetitious and illustrate various injuries to a body, 

even if some are inflammatory. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 829, 870, 

822 P.2d 177 (1991). The defendant fails to demonstrate why the 

Court of Appeals determination that the trial court properly 

exercised its discretion warrants review. 
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V. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons the State asks the Court to deny 

review.